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P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512
	ANA SOSA DE ROSARIO, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Claimant,

                                                   v. 

ENGINEERING, INC.,                   CHENEGA LODGING d/b/a 

HOTEL CLARION, 

Employer,

                                                   and 

NOVAPRO RISK SOLUTIONS, 

                                                  Adjuster,

                                                            Defendants.
	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	         FINAL DECISION 

        AND ORDER

        AWCB Case Nos.  200710397
        AWCB Decision No.  11-0035
         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on April 5, 2011


On June 9, 2010, Ana Sosa de Rosario’s (“employee”) workers’ compensation claim of July 24, 2008, was heard in Anchorage, Alaska.  Ms. Sosa de Rosario appeared, testified, and represented herself.  Attorney Colby Smith represented the employer (“employer”).  Translator Kris Anderson appeared to act as a Spanish language translator during the June 9, 2010 segment of the hearing.  The June 9, 2010 hearing was continued.
  A continuation of the hearing was held on September 30, 2010, at which time Ms. Sosa de Rosario again testified and was represented by both herself and Suhail Echavarria, a family friend who was designated a non-attorney representative.  Mr. Smith again represented the employer.  M. Grace Anderson served as the interpreter.  John Schwarz, MD, testified on behalf of employee.

ISSUES

Employee contends she was injured at work, continues to suffer from pain, and is unable to work.  She further contends she has been unable to work due to her injury since April 22, 2008, except for a brief period in the laundry of employer, but now her pain permanently precludes her from working.  Employee also contends she continues to need surgery.

Employer contends work was not the substantial cause of employee’s disability or need for treatment, and since no doctor has opined employee is permanently unable to return to work, employee is not permanently and totally disabled.

The parties stipulated to the following issues:

1. Is employee entitled to medical costs and interest?

2. Is employee entitled to temporary total disability benefits from April 22, 2008 to present?

3. Is employee entitled to temporary partial disability benefits from June 28, 2007 to April 21, 2008?

4. Is employee entitled to permanent partial impairment?

5. Is employee entitled to permanent total disability from April 22, 2008 to present?

6. Is employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs?

FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the entire record establishes the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

1. In Decision and Order number 10-0123, Sosa de Rosario I,
 the board found the following facts:

1. The employee was injured on June 28, 2007, when she tripped on the edge of a bed and fell.
  

2. The employee speaks Spanish as her primary language.
  

3. The employee was represented by attorney Rene Gonzalez, who speaks fluent Spanish, from July 24, 2008, when the claim in question was filed, until June 3, 2010, six days prior to the hearing.

4. At the request of the Board, the employer provided a translator, Kris Anderson, to be present at the hearing.
  Mr. Anderson participated in the hearing serving as a translator.  He translated all testimony, statements and questions to the employee in an effort to facilitate the employee’s self-representation.

5. The employee asked for a continuance midway through the hearing after an audience member
 asserted Mr. Anderson was not correctly translating the employee’s statements.  The employee further stated she wished to retain a new attorney prior to any hearing.  After a brief recess, the Board orally granted the employee’s request for a continuance.  The employer objected to a continuance being granted after the hearing commenced. 

2. The board continued the June 9, 2010 hearing because employee would have suffered irreparable harm had the hearing proceeded.

3. Employee began working for employer on February 4, 2000, as a housekeeper, and continued to work in this position on June 28, 2007, the date of injury.
  

4. In 2004 employee was diagnosed with degenerative joint disease and chronic thoracic backaches related to heavy breasts.
  
5. On April 27, 2005, employee was treated for shoulder and neck pain, for which she was referred for an epidural steroid injection.
  
6. A January 11, 2006 motor vehicle accident (MVA) resulted in further complaints of neck, shoulder and right arm pain with weakness, which was diagnosed as a cervical strain and right arm contusion.  No thoracic or lumbar tenderness was noted.
  
7. When seeking physical therapy on February 21, 2006 for her neck, shoulder and right arm symptoms resulting from the January 11, 2006 MVA employee completed a medical history questionnaire which included a pain diagram.  On this pain diagram employee circled her right arm, right shoulder and entire back area, while indicating her worst pain was a 10 on the pain scale.
  The additional questions (what makes the pain worse or better) on the pain questionnaire form are not completed.  The accompanying evaluation form notes the problems involve the right upper extremity, cervical spine, and right shoulder, but do not mention low back pain.
  
8. On May 24, 2006, employee was diagnosed with fibromyalgia by Dr. Schwartz.

9. Employee was injured at work on June 28, 2007, when she tripped on a piece of metal protruding from under the bed in the hotel room she was cleaning.  Employee finished cleaning that room and finished the work day before reporting to her supervisor she was injured and needed medical treatment.
  Employee is credible in this assertion.

10. Employee sought treatment in the Providence Emergency Room (ER) late in the evening on June 28, 2007.  Translating for employee in the ER was employee’s daughter-in-law.  The Emergency Department Clinical Worksheet lists the diagnosis as “LBP” or low back pain.  This worksheet also contains the word “housekeeping.”
  

11. Susan Dietz, MD, evaluated employee in the ER where employee complained of pain “radiate (sic) from her low back into her buttocks around into her groin area.”

12. The ER note is internally inconsistent in that the “history of present illness” section refers to right hip pain over the past month, but in the “musculoskeletal” section states “she has no hip or joint tenderness.”  Further, under “back” Dr. Dietz notes “diffuse low back pain with diffuse right SI joint pain.”
  

13. Dr. Dietz prescribed a morphine injection which provided pain relief, and took employee off work through July 2, 2007, after providing a final diagnosis of “low back pain possible sciatica.”  Dr. Dietz also prescribed pain medications.

14. Employee followed up with Dr. Schwartz, who speaks fluent Spanish, on July 6, 2007, complaining of “right buttock pain radiating down her leg for the last one to two weeks” which was significantly better in the preceding week.  She was given a work release for an additional week and refills of pain medications.

15. Employee saw Bret Thompson, MD, on July 12, 2007, to follow up on right leg pain which improved to a 4 to 5 out 10 on the pain scale.  Dr. Thompson noted right low back pain with left leg raise, and continued radiation down the right leg with left leg raise.
  Dr. Thompson also released employee to return to modified work on July 23, 2007, with lifting, pulling and pushing restrictions of fifteen pounds.

16. On August 8, 2007, employee was seen by Dr. Thompson who noted employee was accompanied by her sister, a nurse case manager for the insurance company, and “Yolanda” the interpreter.  Dr. Thompson noted “he was previously unaware this was a work related injury.”  Employee continued to have right radiating leg pain, lower thoracic and lumbar muscle spasms, and low back pain with leg raises.  Dr. Thompson ordered an MRI
 of the lumbar spine and follow up with Dr. Schwartz or other Spanish speaking doctor.
  Dr. Thompson also extended employee’s modified work release to August 8, 2007, with lifting, pulling and pushing restrictions of fifteen pounds, and bending/twisting not more than six times per hour.

17. On August 21, 2007, an MRI of employee’s lumbar spine showed a focal disc herniation at L5-S1 eccentrically to the right with significant neural foraminal and lateral recess narrowing.

18. On September 4, 2007, employee was referred to James Eule, MD, for evaluation.

19. Employee returned to Dr. Schwartz on September 26, 2007 and asked for a referral to physical therapy (PT) before a surgical consult with Dr. Eule.

20. Employee began physical therapy on October 2, 2007, with Mary Sorich.
  On October 2, 2007, PT reported employee’s pain level had fallen from a 7/10 to 2/10.

21. On October 24, 2007, employee was again evaluated by Dr. Schwartz, who strongly recommended she see Dr. Eule for surgical evaluation.  Dr. Schwartz continued PT and light duty.

22. On November 11, 2007, Dr. Schwartz responded to an inquiry regarding employee’s ability to return to work.  Dr. Schwartz opined employee could do sedentary work with restrictions of one to three hours of standing and three to five hours of sitting in an eight hour day.
  

23. On November 11, 2007, employee returned to Dr. Schwartz who continued to strongly recommend employee be evaluated for surgery by Dr. Eule.
 

24. On December 7, 2007, employee was examined by Charles N. Brooks, MD, for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME).  Dr. Brooks opined the following:  

a.  Chronic back pain, cause unspecified, onset sometime before October 12, 2004, but reportedly involving upper back.

b. Reported fibromyalgia, apparently diagnosed May 24, 2006. 

c. Degenerative disc disease and degenerative arthritis lumbar spine, due to genetics and aging.

d. Facet hypertrophy L5-S1, due to degenerative arthritis.

e. Disc bulges L3-4 and L4-5, due to degenerative disc disease.

f. Right posterolateral disc extrusion at L5-S1, due to degenerative disc disease, and possibly occupational-avocational activities or an unreported low back injury with symptom onset (low back and right buttock-hip-groin pain) circa early May 2007.

g. Right lateral recess and foraminal stenosis L5-S1, due to the disc extrusion and facet hypertrophy.

h. Right finger strain, reportedly due to an occupational injury on June 28, 2007.

Dr. Brooks opined the mechanism of injury was unlikely and concluded there was no injury on June 28, 2007.  While noting employee’s “language difficulties” and “immigrant status,” Dr. Brooks concluded employee engaged in symptom magnification due to underlying psychosocial factors. Dr. Brooks did agree the treatment received by employee was reasonable and necessary.
  

25. On January 31, 2008, based on Dr. Brooks EME report, employer controverted all benefits.

26. On December 11, 2007, employee was evaluated by Jane Sonnenburg, PA-C, in Dr. Eule’s office, who noted in employee’s history “she reported the incident by the end of the day due to increasing pain in her low back” and “she has had no previous injuries to her back prior to this incident.”  Ms. Sonnenburg recommended an epidural steroid injection (ESI).
  

27. On December 12, 2007, employee was released from PT.

28. On December 18, 2007, Larry Levine, MD, performed an ESI on employee.

29. On December 20, 2007, Evelena Eastepp, RN, sent a letter and copy of Dr. Brooks’ EME report to Dr. Eule asking if he concurred with Dr. Brooks conclusions.  Dr. Eule noted he had not examined employee and therefore could not make an accurate determination as to the work injury.
  On January 8, 2008, employee returned to Ms. Sonnenburg and reported some improvement in symptoms from the ESI.  Ms. Sonnenburg noted she reviewed the EME report and tends to agree with it due to “some inconsistency in employee’s complaints.”  Ms. Sonnenburg noted employee reached maximum medical benefit and was able to lift twenty to twenty-five pounds.

30. On January 9, 2008, employee was seen by Dr. Schwartz who noted employee’s continued complaints and limited her to light duty work indefinitely.

31. On April 22, 2008, Dr. Schwartz referred employee to Dr. Eule again for reconsideration of surgical removal of the herniated disc.  Dr. Schwartz also noted employee was “too disabled to return to work.”

32. On October 27, 2009, Dr. Schwartz authored a letter stating employee has “symptomatic, disabling right lower back and extremity discomfort…resulting in loss of work and chronic pain.”  He also opined “her injury at work is in large part responsible for her persistent disability.”
  Dr. Schwartz is credible in his assessment of employee’s pain and description of her symptoms due to his ability to communicate directly with employee in her native language and his history of treating employee.

33. On July 18, 2009, a second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”) was conducted by John Lipon, DO, an orthopedic surgeon.  Dr. Lipon opined employee suffers from degenerative changes to the lumbar spine which were preexisting or “possibly occupational and/or non-work-related activities, which could include a prior lower back injury which has not been reported.”  Dr. Lipon further opined employee suffered no work injury on June 28, 2007, based on “inconsistencies in [employee’s] history of the cause and onset of her lower back and right leg pain.”  Dr. Lipon disagreed with Dr. Schwartz’s recommendation of surgery noting “symptom magnification, abnormal pain behavior, and a perception of severe disability.”

34. Dr. Lipon was deposed by Mr. Smith and Mr. Gonzalez on January 20, 2010.  Dr. Lipon largely testified consistently with his report.  Dr. Lipon noted that the absence of a reference to an injury or contusion in the initial June 28, 2007 medical record contributed largely to his ultimate conclusion that employee suffered no injury on June 28, 2007.
  Dr. Lipon also emphasized the February 27, 2006 pain diagram to conclude employee’s low back pain was preexisting.
  Dr. Lipon stated he based his opinion of symptom magnification on employee’s “inconsistencies” in her history and presentation of abnormal pain behavior at the SIME examination.

Mr. Smith directed Dr. Lipon to a September 7, 2007 medical record which according to Mr. Smith stated employee’s “numbness and tingling that she was experiencing after the injury had resolved?”
  Mr. Smith questioned Dr. Lipon regarding the accuracy of his interpretation of the September 7, 2007 medical record, which Dr. Lipon affirmed, and Dr. Lipon further concluded based on the interpretation employee’s numbness and tingling had resolved by September 7, 2007, employee’s report of continued numbness and tingling on July 18, 2009, the date of the SIME examination, was an indication of symptom magnification.
  A review of the September 7, 2007 medical record states “patient still getting intermittent r[ight] leg pain, numbness and tingling into toes,” and includes an assessment of back pain with radiation and pain in limb.
  This leads the board to the conclusion Dr. Lipon’s memory and characterization of this medical record was inaccurate and calls into question the conclusion drawn.

Mr. Gonzalez questioned Dr. Lipon regarding the absence of other work-related injuries or time lost from work prior to June 28, 2007, including the absence of reference to an L5-S1 herniation or nerve root impingement.  Mr. Gonzalez also questioned Dr. Lipon regarding whether employee is capable of working.  Dr. Lipon opined there were “no measurable abnormal objective findings to support a need for restriction or limitations,” but went on to say a physical capacities evaluation may be necessary based on employee’s subjective complaints.
  Dr. Lipon approved job descriptions for the job at the time of injury and a dry cleaning job employee stated she has held in the past ten years.
  Dr. Lipon went on to deny accusing employee of “symptom magnification of pain behavior,” noting that was his observation on the date of the exam.

35. On May 3, 2010, Dr. Lipon issued an addendum to his initial report.  He was provided with two additional records for review, April 22, 2008 with Dr. Schwartz and the October 17, 2009 letter from Dr. Schwartz.  After review, Dr. Lipon noted that neither of these records caused him to alter his opinions.

36. On June 10, 2010, Dr. Schwartz prepared a physician’s report (board form 07-6102) which reiterated his opinion employee’s injury and need for treatment are work related, employee was not medically stable, may have a permanent impairment which may preclude her from returning to her job at the time of injury, was not released for work, and referred employee to Dr. Eule for further evaluation and surgical consultation.

37. Employee was deposed on July 9, 2009.  She described her injury as occurring when she was tucking the blankets and sheets under the mattress when the mattress slipped and when she attempted to steady herself she tripped over a metal bar protruding from under the mattress which caused her to fall on the bed.
  Employee’s description of the mechanism of injury has been consistent through deposition, testimony at two board hearings, and in medical records where the issue is raised by the provider.  Also in deposition employee asserted she told her daughter-in-law (who accompanied her to the ER) that she was injured while working.
  Employee clarified the February 27, 2006 pain diagram was completed by the doctor.

38. Dr. Schwartz testified telephonically on behalf of employee at the hearing.  He has treated employee since 2004 and noted he had no recollection of any complaints about low back pain or right leg pain prior to the work injury.  Dr. Schwartz maintained his recommendation of consultation with a spinal surgeon as the best option for reducing employee’s pain.  On cross examination Dr. Schwartz acknowledged he is an internal medicine doctor and has never practiced as an orthopedist or neurosurgeon.  Dr. Schwartz stated back pain caused by degenerative disc disease presents less acutely than employee’s symptoms.  Dr. Schwartz acknowledged not having employee’s record with him when he testified, and that he had not reviewed the EME or SIME reports.  He also testified he is hopeful surgery will enable employee to work.
  Dr. Schwartz is credible in his opinions regarding employee’s medical history and presentation, and his assessment of employee’s injury based on his history of treating employee and his ability to communicate with her in her native language.

39. Employer initially accepted employee’s injury and paid temporary total disability (TTD) from July 2, 2007 to July 22, 2007.
  Employee returned to work for employer in a light duty capacity beginning on July 23, 2007 to April 21, 2008.
  Employee testified at hearing she was paid less while working light duty than she was earning while working full time prior to the injury.  On April 22, 2008, Dr. Schwartz noted employee was too disabled to continue working.
  Employee testified she has not worked and has not drawn unemployment since April 22, 2008. 

40. Employee has not been rated for permanent partial impairment (“PPI”).

41. Mr. Gonzalez has not filed any affidavit of fees or costs, nor has he filed an attorney’s lien.

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001. Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that 1) This chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter; 2) Worker's compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute ....


AS 23.30.010. Coverage. (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee's need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment. To establish a presumption under 
AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment. When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.


Compensation or benefits under the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act are payable only if the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or need for medical treatment. It has long been held an employer must take the employee “as he finds him.”
 The Board interprets “the substantial cause” of AS 23.30.010 in light of the long line of Alaska Supreme Court cases interpreting “substantial” to mean a quantum of evidence a reasonable person could believe sufficient to assign responsibility for causation. The Board interprets “the” in the language of AS 23.30.010, in relation to other substantial causes, determining if the employment injury is the substantial cause which brings about the disability or death or need for medical treatment.
 The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission recently interpreted the last two sentences in AS 23.30.010(a) as requiring employment “to be, more than any other cause, the substantial cause of the employee's disability, death, or need for medical treatment. It no longer suffices that employment is a substantial factor in bringing about the harm.”

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board's “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”
 “If medical experts have ruled out work-related causes for an employee's injury, then Wolfer and Grainger do not require that these experts also offer alternative explanations.”

 
If complications occur in the treatment of a work injury, the treatment for those complications would still be compensable, and the employer would still be liable for continuing medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a).
 


AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a)  In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. 
The employee is afforded a presumption that all benefits she seeks are compensable.
 
We utilize a three-step analysis when applying the presumption of compensability.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed disability and her employment.  Evidence needed to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending upon the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to raise the presumption.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  Employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal,” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between benefits sought and the employment injury,
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability or impairment.
  

At this stage in our analysis we do not assess witness credibility.
  If we find such relevant evidence at this threshold step, the presumption attaches to the claim.  If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, the employee need produce no further evidence and she prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.
  The presumption of compensability continues during the course of the claimant’s recovery from the injury and disability.
  A pre-existing condition does not disqualify a claim if the employment aggravates, accelerates or combines with the pre-existing condition to produce the disability for which compensation is sought.”
  A substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury bearing a causal relation to the disability.
  
Second, once the preliminary link is established and the presumption has attached to the claim, the burden of production shifts to the employer.  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption is examined in isolation.
  The employer then has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence the injury is not work related.
  The board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant's work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”
 If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.
  "Substantial evidence" is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  

At the third stage in the presumption analysis, if the employer produces substantial evidence to rebut the presumption, the presumption of compensability for the claimed benefit drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.”
 The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must "induce a belief" in the mind of the fact-finder that the asserted facts are probably true.
  

Consistent with AS 23.30.120(a) and cases construing its language, an injured employee may raise the presumption a claim for continuing treatment or care comes within the provisions of 
AS 23.30.095(a), and in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary this presumption will satisfy the employee’s burden of proof as to whether continued treatment or care is medically indicated.
  

AS 23.30.097.  Fees for medical treatment and services.. . .(d) An employer shall pay an employee’s bills for medical treatment under this chapter, excluding prescription charges or transportation for medical treatment, within 30 days after the date that the employer receives the provider’s bill or a completed report as required by AS 23.30.095(c), whichever is later.

AS 23.30.155.  Payment of Compensation. (a)  Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer…
(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death. On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. . . .

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment. . . .The additional amount shall be paid directly to the recipient to whom the unpaid installment was to be paid… (p) An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

AS 23.30.185. Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.395.  Definitions.

(16) “disability” means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment….

 (27) “medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence;

AS 23.30.180.  Permanent total disability.  In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability….

“Total disability” does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness.  It means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for then does not exist.
  An employee is not permanently disabled unless a doctor states that the condition will not improve during the claimant’s lifetime.
  Further, an employee is not entitled to permanent total disability “if there is regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to the claimant’s capabilities.”
  

AS 23.30.190.  Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.  (a)  In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . .

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . . .

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall he reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.

The cost of the PPI rating is a medical cost, and should be paid by the employer.
 The law allows an injured worker to obtain a PPI rating from his attending physician or from a physician to whom he is referred by his attending physician.
 
AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus, or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee's disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.  When medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits.

Under the Act, an injured worker is entitled to medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.”
  “If continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.”
  The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for medical benefits, including continuing care.
  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.
  

An employee is entitled to reasonable and necessary medical treatment within the first two years of the date of injury.  “A claim for medical treatment is to be reviewed according to the date the treatment was sought and the claim was filed with the Board.”
    The court further stated an employee “may choose to follow his or her own doctor’s advice, so long as the choice of treatment is reasonable.”
    

Where the claimant presents credible, competent evidence from his or her treating physician that the treatment undergone or sought is reasonably effective for the process of recovery, and the evidence is corroborated by other medical experts, and the treatment falls within the realm of medically acceptable options, it is generally considered reasonable.  If the employee makes this showing, the employer is faced with a heavy burden—the employer must demonstrate to the board that the treatment is neither reasonable and necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical options under the particular facts.  It is not the board’s function to choose between reasonable, yet competing, medically acceptable treatments.  Rather the board must determine whether the actual treatment sought by the injured employee is reasonable.
  

8 AAC 45.082.  Medical treatment.  (a) The employer’s obligation to furnish medical treatment under AS 23.30.095 extends only to medical and dental services furnished by providers, unless otherwise ordered by the board after a hearing or consented to by the employer.  The board will not order the employer to pay expenses incurred by an employee without the approval required by this subsection.


(b) In this section “provider” means any person or facility as defined in 
AS 47.08.140 and licensed under AS 08 to furnish medical or dental services, and includes an out-of-state person or facility that meets the requirements of this section and is otherwise qualified to be licensed under AS 08.

. . .


(d) Medical bills for an employee’s treatment are due and payable within 30 days after the date the employer received the medical provider’s bill and a completed report on form 07-6102.  Unless the employer controverts the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee’s prescription charges . . . within 30 days after the employer received the medical provider’s completed report on form 07-6102 and an itemization of the prescription numbers or an itemization of the dates of travel, destination, and transportation expenses for each date of travel. If the employer controverts

(1) a medical bill or if the medical bill is not paid in full as billed, the employer shall notify the employee and medical provider in writing the reasons for not paying all or a part of the bill or the reason for delay in payment within 30 days after receipt of the bill and completed report on form 07-6102;

(2) a prescription or transportation expense reimbursement request in full, the employer shall notify the employee in writing the reason for not paying all or a part of the request or the reason for delay within the time allowed in this section in which to make payment; if the employer makes a partial payment, the employer shall also itemize in writing the prescription or transportation expense requests not paid. . . .

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

8 AAC 45.142. Interest. (a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in. . . AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid. If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

ANALYSIS

1. Is employee entitled to medical costs and interest?

2. Is employee entitled to temporary total disability benefits from April 22, 2008 to present?

3. Is employee entitled to temporary partial disability benefits from June 28, 2007 to April 21, 2008?

4. Is employee entitled to permanent partial impairment?

These are factual questions to which the presumption of compensability applies.  Employee must establish a preliminary link between her injury and employment in order to raise the presumption of compensability.  This requirement is minimal.  In this case employee has consistently stated she was injured while making a bed as part of the process of cleaning rooms for her employer, and course and scope is not an issue in this case.  Employer conceded the presumption attaches to all benefits sought except PTD.  In addition, Dr. Schwartz has repeatedly stated employee’s injury was work related.  The combination of employee’s statements and Dr. Schwartz’s opinion is enough to attach the presumption employee was injured in the course and scope of her employment.

To rebut the presumption employer relies on the EME report of Dr. Brooks who opined the mechanism of injury was unlikely and there was no injury on June 28, 2007.  Employer also relies on the SIME opinion of Dr. Lipon who also concluded there was no work injury on June 28, 2007.  Without weighing credibility employer has produced substantial evidence and overcome the presumption.

Once employer has rebutted the presumption, the burden of persuasion shifts back to employee and she must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee is credible and consistent in her description of the mechanism of her injury, and every medical provider who has doubted the existence of a work injury has based that doubt on “inconsistencies” in employee’s medical history.  The purported “inconsistencies” are all found in medical records where the medical provider did not speak Spanish and translators of varying degrees of competency were relied upon.  Dr. Schwartz testified telephonically at hearing on behalf of employee while between patients in his clinic.  The degree of conviction with which Dr. Schwartz testified employee was injured at work, needed to consult with a surgeon, and is not able to work because of her injury lend credibility to his testimony and opinions.  Further, the fact that Dr. Schwarz is the only medical provider who has consistently evaluated employee in Spanish adds to his credibility.  

All of the medical providers in this case acknowledge the “language difficulties” beginning with the initial ER report where it is noted her “niece”
 was with her to translate.  Dr. Thompson ordered follow up with “Dr. Schwartz or other Spanish speaking doctor” after the August 8, 2007 visit in which he noted he was previously unaware the injury was work related.  While Dr. Brooks acknowledges “language difficulties” he “finds it difficult” to reconcile minor variations in employee’s description of the mechanism of injury and her symptoms, which were all translated and not communicated directly by employee to the provider. Further, Dr. Brooks’ bases his symptom magnification opinion on employee’s “language difficulties” and “immigrant status.” Since it is highly unlikely employer was unaware of employee’s “language difficulties” when she was hired, employer cannot now use those “language difficulties” as an excuse to avoid liability.  Dr. Brooks does not exclude occupational activities as a possible cause of the right posterolateral disc extrusion at L5-S1, but opines the substantial cause of employee’s symptoms was degenerative disc disease since she had degeneration in her cervical and thoracic spine.  Dr. Brooks is not credible.  Further, Dr. Lipon also opines employee’s symptoms may be due to an occupational activity and bases his conclusion of symptom magnification on “inconsistencies” in employee’s medical history.  Dr. Lipon’s opinion and assessments largely mirror those of Dr. Brooks including deference to Dr. Brooks on the mechanism of injury issue, and therefore are discounted.  

Employee worked for employer for over seven years as a housekeeper without any reported work injury.  Employer relies on employee’s preexisting cervical and thoracic spine complaints as evidence she had preexisting low back complaints.  Employer also relies on a pain diagram which is incomplete and inconsistent with the complaints in the accompanying chart note as further evidence of preexisting low back pain.  It is telling that employee has a significant number of medical visits in the record prior to the date of injury but none of them reference low back pain, only cervical and thoracic complaints.  The absence of medical treatment for low back pain and right lower extremity pain leads to the conclusion that employee had no symptomatic preexisting issues with her low back and right lower extremity.  The absence of previous treatment to the low back and right lower extremity combined with employee’s credible description of the mechanism of injury, Dr. Schwartz’s testimony, and the MRI showing a focal disc herniation at L5-S1 are substantial evidence employee suffered a compensable work injury and is entitled to reasonable and necessary medical treatment both past and future.  Based on this substantial evidence, the June 28, 2007 work injury is the substantial cause of employee’s need for medical treatment for the low back and right lower extremity complaints.  Employee is entitled to past, present and future medical treatment related to her low back and right lower extremity.  Further, the medical treatment received so far has been reasonable and necessary.

Dr. Schwartz continues to recommend employee be evaluated by a spinal surgeon as he has since September 4, 2007, and since employee has yet to be evaluated by a treating spinal surgeon, that evaluation is ordered by the board.  Since the work injury is the substantial cause of employee’s complaints, evaluation by a spinal surgeon is reasonable and necessary.  Employer is ordered to pay for the evaluation and any reasonable and necessary treatment recommended by the spinal surgeon.  If possible without undue cost, employee should be evaluated by a Spanish speaking spinal surgeon.  Upon completion of all treatment recommended by the spinal surgeon and a finding of medical stability, employee is to be referred for a PPI rating.

The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for medical and related benefits, including continuing care. The law requires the employer to furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, within the first two years of the injury.  It is not clear from the record which medical providers have been paid for medical care provided to employee as a result of the work injury or by whom providers were paid.  Employer is responsible for payment to those providers, or for reimbursement to employee if she paid out of pocket for medical treatment, including interest.

Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence her work was the substantial cause in her need for past and continuing medical treatment and disability.  TTD benefits are payable during the continuance of the disability, but may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.  Medical stability exists where further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from passage of time.  Medical stability is presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement or deterioration for a period of forty-five days.

Employer paid TTD from July 2, 2007 to July 22, 2007, when employee returned to work in a light duty capacity.  Employee worked in the laundry in a light duty capacity from July 23, 2007 to April 21, 2008.  Employee testified she was paid less while working in the laundry.  Employer is ordered to determine if employee is owed any TPD for this time period.  Employee has not worked since April 21, 2008 and is owed TTD from April 22, 2008 to the date of medical stability unless other grounds for termination of TTD are allowed under the Act.
Should employee decline the surgical evaluation or continue to refuse to consider surgery she will be deemed medically stable as of the date of this decision, and referred for a rating for PPI.  

5. Is employee entitled to permanent total disability from April 22, 2008 to present?

While employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence she suffered a compensable injury, is entitled to past and future medical treatment, TTD and PPI, when rated, there is no evidence employee’s disability is permanent and total.  Dr. Schwartz continues to recommend a surgical evaluation testifying he foresees the possibility it may improve employee’s pain and allow her to return to work.  Further, as suggested by Dr. Lipon, a physical capacities evaluation may be needed to determine what, if any, type of work employee is now capable of performing.  The PTD issue is not yet ripe for decision and jurisdiction is reserved.

6. Is employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs?

Mr. Gonzalez has filed no affidavit for fees or costs so this issue is moot.  In addition, employee was not represented by a licensed attorney at hearing so no fees are due Ms. Echavarria.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Employee is entitled to medical benefits associated with the work injury of June 28, 2007.  

2. Employee has not reached medical stability.  If employee continues to refuse surgery, if recommended, she will be deemed medically stable as of the date of this decision.

3. Employee is entitled to TTD from April 22, 2008 to the date of medical stability.

4. Employer will determine if employee was underpaid while working light duty in the laundry from June 28, 2007 to April 21, 2008.  

5. Employee is entitled to interest for late paid benefits by the employer.
6. Employee is entitled to PPI when rated.

7. Employee is not entitled to PTD.

8. Employee is not entitled to attorney’s fees and costs.

ORDER

1. Employee is entitled to medical treatment associated with and necessitated by the work injury.  Employer is ordered to pay any outstanding medical bills directly to the provider with interest, and to reimburse employee or employee’s medical insurance provider for related medical costs paid out of pocket with interest.  Employer is ordered to pay for a consultation with a spinal surgeon regarding future treatment and other reasonable and necessary medical treatment as the course of recovery may require.

2. Employer is ordered to pay PPI when employee is rated.

3. Employer is ordered to determine if employee was underpaid while working light duty from June 28, 2007 to April 21, 2008, and if so, to pay TPD plus interest to employee.

4. Employer is ordered to pay TTD from April 22, 2008 to the date of medical stability.

5. Employee’s claim for PTD is denied.  Jurisdiction is reserved on this issue.

6. Employee’s claim for attorney’s fees and costs is denied.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on April 5, 2011.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

EXTRAORDINARY REVIEW

Within 10 days after the date of service of the Board’s decision and order from which review is sought and before the filing of a timely request for reconsideration of the Board decision and order from which review is sought, a party may file a motion for extraordinary review seeking review of an interlocutory or other non-final Board decision or order with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission under 8 AAC 57.072 and 8 AAC 57.074.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of ANA SOSA DE ROSARIO employee / applicant; v. CHENEGA LODGING d/b/a HOTEL CLARION, Employer/ defendant; and NOVA PRO RISK SOLUTIONS, Insurer/defendant; Case No. 200710397; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on April 5, 2011.
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